THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
MAY 09 2014
SC COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
2013-002319

In the Matter of the Estate of Marion M. Kay

Edward D. Sullivan, as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Marion M. Kay, Appellant/
Cross-Respondent

v.

Martha Brown and Mary Moses, Respondents/
Cross-Appellants

RESPONDENTS' INITIAL RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S BRIEF

John R. Ferguson
S.C. Bar No. 1987
107 W. Laurens St. - PO Box 286
Laurens, SC 29360
(864) 984-212
Fax (864) 984-7372

COX, FERGUSON & WHAM, LLC
Attorneys for Respondents

INTRODUCTION

This case involves the rectification of a Personal Representative's looting of a decedent's estate. It is all the more egregious because the PR is a member of the Bar and the author of the will he used to loot the estate.

In his Respondent's Initial Brief of Appellant-Respondent (hereinafter PR's Brief) at page 2, paragraph 2 the PR asserts that Ms. Brown and Ms. Moses were so bitterly disappointed with the Testatrix's will that they were unalterably opposed to any settlement; but the fact is that they did not make any effort to contest the PR's handling of the estate until his malevolent breach of his fiduciary duty became clear, and they consented to the sale of the Estate's interest in the farm to a legitimate buyer. This case is about the efforts of Cross-Appellants to unravel the PR's wrongdoing and to bring to light what he has tried to hide so that equity and justice could prevail.

Once the Cross-Appellants requested that the PR file for a hearing to justify his handling of the Estate, he was forced to disclose that he had paid himself \$ 93,775 for what the probate judge found to be an uncomplicated estate. When he was pressed to justify this, he revealed that he did not base his charges on his time or the amount of the Estate assets, but rather he gave himself what he in his discretion thought he was due. Ultimately, the probate judge, while not finding bad faith, determined that the PR's charges were clearly excessive and had no legitimate basis. As a result, he ordered the PR to return \$ 42,475 to the Estate (which the PR has refused to do) and awarded Cross-Appellants' counsel a fee pursuant to the common fund doctrine.

Cross-Appellants' are appealing the large fee the PR was awarded and seeking post-trial compensation for their attorney. The probate judge determined that much of the PR's work was unnecessary, and he boosted the value of the Estate with what the probate judge found to be an unnecessary and expensive valuation of the personalty by paralegals in his law firm. This bloated value was then used by the probate judge to compute the PR's compensation. The probate judge did not state the basis for his award to the PR, and it is the position of Cross-Appellants that this award does not have a sufficient factual basis.

ARGUMENT

I. The courts below erred in granting the Personal Representative excessive compensation after findings negating a large award and a lack of findings supporting the award.

The PR points to the will's provision for reasonable compensation. The Final Order does not elucidate how the probate judge arrived at the large number he chose, and this number is without factual support. The PR has hunted through the Final Order to find anything he can to support his fee award and presents a meager list.

The first is the supposedly outstanding result in the sale of the real estate. This sale was made to a buyer sent to the PR by Cross-Appellant Mary Moses. The "outstanding result" was the sale of the property for \$ 24,000 less than its appraised value (Cf. Plaintiff's Ex. C-14 and C-17, Tr. >), so this finding is without sufficient factual support.

As to the approval of the beneficiaries factor, the PR has produced proof that only three of the beneficiaries having a total of 30% interest agreed with his proposed settlement, and one of these had been given substantial advances by the PR. The PR's oft-repeated assertion that 70% of the heirs approved his proposal is quite simply untrue. As the letter of Trinity Presbytery's attorney states (Tr. >), in order for Lisbon Presbyterian Church to agree to the PR's proposal for dividing the Estate, there would have to be a congregational vote, and this has not occurred.

The "exemplary credentials" of the PR are irrelevant, because the PR hired others to do the legal and the accounting work. The probate judge found that the PR's assertion that there were novel issues was without basis (Final Order, # 7, Tr. >), and the PR testified that there was very little legal work to be done on the Estate (Grice Tr. 176/6-7, Tr. >). In short, he did not use his "exemplary credentials" to advance the interests of the Estate, so they avail him not.

What that leaves is the PR's demand that he be paid \$ 51,300 plus \$ 13,447.05 (See Final Order, # 14, Tr. >) for his supposed good faith. He wants to be paid \$ 64,747.05 more for a duty he already owed to the Estate. (See S.C. Code Section 62-3-703(a).) Perhaps we should call it a tip instead of payment for legitimate work.

The finding of good faith is on appeal, and with good reason. The courts below found that the PR failed to prove the existence and the necessity of the 468.6 hours he claimed to have worked (Final Order, para. 1, Tr. >), that there were no novel issues supporting a large fee (Final Order # 7, Tr. >) and that the PR's secret payments to himself (\$ 93,775) were "clearly excessive" (Final Order, #13, Tr. >) and without a legitimate basis (Final Order, # 8, Tr. >). It is an abuse of discretion to call this conduct good faith.

In attempting to justify his handling of the Estate, the PR makes the claim (PR's Brief, p. 4) that "The net gain to Brown and Moses from the litigation based on the Court's orders is approximately \$ 1000 each." This is another attempt of the PR to mislead the Court. In order to understand what the PR had done and to prevent its approval, Ms. Brown and Ms. Moses hired counsel who devoted a considerable amount of time to the case. They are obligated to pay their attorney for his efforts, and the Final Order offset their obligation by \$ 19,860 (Final Order, # 21, Tr. >). There was nothing frivolous about their decision to call the PR to accounts.

The PR again misleads the Court on p. 14 of his Brief when he claims that "Brown and Moses are not similarly situated and in fact their interests conflict with the other beneficiaries because during the litigation they sought to take 5 acres or the monetary equivalent from the Estate." Only Ms. Brown made that claim, and she did not push it until the PR offered her a hearing to resolve all the issues with the Estate. Ms. Brown's claim is not a part of this appeal.

The PR also misleads the Court (PR's Brief, p. 3, para. 2) with his assertion that beneficiaries with interests in the residuary estate totaling 70% have agreed to this proposed distribution. He has provided documentation only that Heard, Orias and Presbyterian Home, who each have a 10% interest in the residuary estate, support his proposal. The PR never obtained the consent of Lisbon Presbyterian Church, so it was wise that later in his Brief he backed off his claim to have the agreement of 70% of the heirs for his proposed distribution (PR's Brief, pp. 14-15).

It is also worth noting that, having claimed a benefit in his briefs from his post-trial

settlement with Heard, Orias and Presbyterian Home, the PR has sought to block the inclusion of their acceptances of his offer into the appellate record. These documents are admissions against interest by those heirs and should be considered by whatever court determines the shares of the various heirs. The PR himself gave these documents to this Court as Exhibits F-1, F-2 and F-3 attached to his Return to Motion for Escrow of Funds (pp. 39-51).

The PR has also attempted to block the inclusion into the record of his letter inviting Ms. Brown and Ms. Moses to request a hearing and of their letter to the Probate Court in response accepting his offer. Both these letters were filed with the Probate Court and the latter document was filed with this Court by the PR as an attachment to his Return to Motion for Escrow of Funds (p. 37). They should be part of the appellate record. Though in his previous brief the PR states that the issue of his fees could not have been ruled on by the Probate Court because no petition was filed, in his Brief (p. 4) he refers to “the PR’s Petition for Settlement”.

II. The record supports the denial of fees and costs to the Personal Representative at trial and on appeal.

The PR tells this Court that “reasonable compensation” is what he says it is, and no judge should get between him and his pay check. Because the will does not define “reasonable compensation”, this is a matter for judicial construction by a court of Equity. The ultimate result should be well-supported by factual findings.

As both sides have observed, the probate judge did not set out his reasoning for giving the PR a large fee after making numerous findings supporting a conclusion that the PR was looting the Estate and violating his fiduciary duty. The judge denied an award of fees and costs to the PR, because he rightly found that the PR’s efforts at the hearing were directed toward benefitting himself rather than the Estate (Final Order, # 19 and Conclusions of Law # 5, Tr. >).

III. The Circuit Court erred in affirming the Probate Court’s decision to limit its award of legal fees to counsel for Brown and Moses.

The probate judge awarded the undersigned a fee pursuant to *Layman v. State*, 376 S.C. 434, 658 S.E.2d 320 (2008) for his work to the end of the hearing. This case allows a fee to an

attorney whose efforts have led to the creation or preservation of a common fund. The common fund in this case is the \$ 42,475 in excess compensation which the PR was ordered to return to the Estate (although he has refused to do so). The PR has made repeated attempts (including this appeal) to destroy that common fund, but the undersigned has successfully preserved it after causing it to be brought into existence. He is entitled to be paid for his efforts.

It must be noted that the PR is not seeking to benefit the Estate. If he prevails, the Estate will not increase; the extra money will go into his pocket. If the Cross-Appellants prevail, the Estate will benefit. This is especially true if the Court directs that more money come from the PR's pocket. The PR's appeal is to benefit himself, and it is causing post-judgment interest which he and not the Estate should pay.

IV. The Circuit Court erred in failing to address the effect of the Personal Representative's settlement with three beneficiaries.

The PR has taken contradictory positions concerning his settlement with Bart Heard, Marla Orias and Presbyterian Home. On the one hand he claims a benefit from this, but on the other hand, he asserts that the Court cannot see the documents on which he bases his claim. These documents were filed by the Personal Representative multiple times, most recently as Exhibits F-1, F-2 and F-3 to his Appellant/Cross-Respondent's Return to Motion for Escrow of Funds filed with this Court. While it is true that they were generated after the Probate Court hearing, they constitute admissions against interest which the court considering division of the Estate must take into consideration, and the PR has waived any objection to their inclusion by his providing them to this Court.

CONCLUSION

The PR is not entitled to any of the relief he seeks, and his claims must be denied. The claims of the Cross-Appellants are well-supported by the record and should be granted.

COX, FERGUSON & WHAM, LLC
Attorneys for the Respondents/Cross-Appellants