THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
2013-002319

In the Matter of the Estate of Marion M. Kay

Edward D. Sullivan, as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Marion M. Kay, Appellant/
Cross-Respondent

v.

Martha Brown and Mary Moses, Respondents/
Cross-Appellants

CROSS-APPELLANTS' /RESPONDENTS' INITIAL BRIEF

John R. Ferguson
COX, FERGUSON & WHAM, LLC
Attorneys for Cross-Appellants
S.C. Bar No. 1987
107 W. Laurens St. - PO Box 286
Laurens, SC 29360
(864) 984-212
Fax (864) 984-7372

RECEIVED

APR 28 2014

SC Court of Appeals

ARGUMENT

I. The courts below did not err in requiring the Personal Representative to refund a portion of what he had paid himself without authorization.

The Personal Representative (PR) is apparently of the opinion that the Probate Court does not have the power to judge his exercise of discretion. Initial Brief of Appellant-Respondent (hereinafter Appellant's Brief), p.17, para.1. He then makes the incredible claim that "There is no evidence that the PR abused...the powers granted under the will or acted in bad faith in any way." Appellant's Brief, p. 17. This ignores the numerous findings to the contrary made in the Judge Hocker's Final Order (Tr. >). See also Summary of Position of Defendants Moses and Brown (Tr. >) and Addendum to Response of Appellants (Tr. >).

Although it is true that courts seek to carry out the intent of the testatrix, the PR's conclusion that it was Ms. Milam's intent that he loot her estate and deprive her beneficiaries of her bequests to them beggars belief. Any powers she granted the PR were for the purpose of benefitting those she loved enough to make her beneficiaries, not for the enrichment of the PR at their expense. Without court approval or notice to the beneficiaries the PR secretly paid himself \$ 93,775 and brazenly sought an additional \$ 13,447.05 once he had to defend his administration in court (Final Order, Tr. p. >). Nothing supports his conclusion that such self-dealing was the decedent's intent.

In support of his extremely expensive handling of what should have been an uncomplicated estate (Final Order, # 2 and # 3, Tr. >), the PR says without pointing to anything in the will that the decedent, Marion Kay, wanted him to drag her relatives to court. He based this upon a conversation 3 ½ years before she died asking him to explore voluntary partition with Ms. Brown and Ms. Moses (Plaintiff's Ex. C-2). They were not receptive, and Ms. Milam chose not to pursue the matter further.

Although the PR professes his dedication to the will, he totally rewrote its grant of an 8 month option to Charles Copeland to purchase all the Estate's half interest in a farm. "The PR

unnecessarily complicated the Estate by converting an eight month option to purchase the Estate's one half interest in its real estate into an indefinite right to purchase and by giving the option holder the right to buy only a portion of the property contrary to the Will." (Final Order # 3, Tr. >). He also dragged his feet beyond the 8 month period to get an appraisal (Appellant's Brief, p. 19, para. 1), but this would not have delayed Copeland's making a bid. The PR dragged out the option for years as an excuse not to settle the estate and to generate fees. Then he required Mr. Copeland's consent before he would close out the Estate long after the option had expired and suggested that Mr. Copeland sue the Estate. (Plaintiff's Ex. C-15, Tr. >).

To advance his position, the PR repeatedly misstates the support he has among the beneficiaries by claiming that 70% of the residuary beneficiaries support his position (Appellant's Brief, pp. 21, 34 and 38). Pages 6-7 of Appellant's Brief correctly set forth the shares of the beneficiaries, and the PR has provided letters indicating that Presbyterian Home and Bart Heard support his proposed division (Tr. >). Together they own 20% of the residuary estate, not 70%. The PR claims that Lisbon Presbyterian Church supports his approach (Appellant's Brief, p. 9), but he has provided no proof to sustain this conclusion, and the church has not endorsed his position. It is also worth noting that Respondents/Cross-Appellants Brown and Moses owned a total of 60% of the farm at issue (Appellant's Brief, pp. 20-21).

The PR attempts to justify his prolonged failure to bring the Estate to a conclusion by an alleged concern about a possibly defective title, the existence of a right of first refusal, the refusal of the option holder to consent to the sale, a dispute concerning a 5 acre parcel and his right to do whatever he wanted to do because he gave himself broad powers in the will he wrote.

As to the claim that the PR was compelled to launch his lawsuit to clear title in preparation for a sale of the property, S.C. Code Section 62-3-910(A) provides that anyone buying from the Estate "takes title free of rights of any interested person in the estate and incurs no personal liability to the estate, or to any interested persons, whether or not the distribution was proper or supported by court order...." This protects the buyer; and if the buyer is protected, he

(and anyone taking through him) has no reason or ground to sue the PR. A deed of distribution would also not have created any liability because a deed of distribution is not an instrument of conveyance (Appellant's Brief, p. 25). As an alternative, the PR could have signed a quitclaim deed (which he ultimately did), or he could have signed a warranty deed which listed as exclusions the items he was concerned about. The potential liability issue is baseless.

"This was a fairly basic estate which could have been easily, quickly and cheaply settled by a deed of distribution." (Final Order, #2, Tr. >). Filing suit instead violated the PR's obligations under S.C. Code Section 62-3-703 to settle the estate expeditiously and efficiently and consistent with the Estate's best interests. He should not be rewarded for that.

The PR did not need the consent of the option holder to convey the real estate in the Estate. Under the terms of the will, the option holder had 8 months to exercise the option; and he did not attempt to do so during that time (Grice Tr.114/7-8, Tr. >). Time is of the essence in exercising options to purchase land. *Faulkner v. Millar*, 319 S.C. 216, 460 S.E.2d 378 (1995). In fact, the option holder never offered to exercise what the will's option granted him, the right to buy an undivided one half interest in the farm. It was only because the PR attempted to rewrite the option that a problem arose. "The PR unnecessarily complicated the Estate by converting an eight month option to purchase the Estate's one half interest in its real estate into an indefinite right to purchase and by giving the option holder the right to buy only a portion of the property contrary to the Will." (Final Order, # 13, Tr. >)

The PR wrongly argues that only he could partition the farm. First of all, any partition under S.C. Code Section 62-3-911 would have involved only what the estate owned, i.e., an undivided one half interest. The PR overlooks that the heirs could have managed a partition themselves much more cheaply than the \$ 93,775 (and counting) he paid himself.

Had the PR really been serious about getting the agreement of Ms. Brown and Ms. Moses, he would not have ambushed them with the other heirs at what was supposed to have been a private meeting to discuss settlement. (See the first 2 questions and answers of the quoted

testimony on p. 29 of Appellant's Brief.) And he would not have attempted to impose the boundaries he wanted. His treatment of Cross-Appellants was designed to prevent settlement, and it worked. He reluctantly admitted, though, that when it came time to sell the farm, Ms. Brown and Ms. Moses went along without any problems (Grice Tr. 82/6-8, Tr. >).

As to the PR's alleged concern about the right of first refusal, the simple and quick way to deal with this is to grant the right. If the offer is not accepted, the right has been satisfied.

The PR misstates the situation with the 5 acres. This was not a joint claim by Ms. Brown and Ms. Moses; it was asserted only by Ms. Brown, who made no attempt to litigate the matter until the PR invited her to a hearing to settle all the issues with the estate. The PR has stated, "[N]o one, including Brown and Moses...ever asserted any challenge to the PR's actions in Probate Court." Appellant's Brief, p. 39, para. 1). Ms. Brown's claim, which was supported by Defendants' Ex. 8-12, is not part of this appeal.

II. The courts below correctly found that the PR paid himself excessive compensation.

Under S.C. Code Section 62-3-719 the standard commission is 5%. Respondents/Cross-Appellants reject the PR's entitlement to this because of his flagrant violation of his fiduciary duty to the Estate for the purpose of unjustly enriching himself at the Estate's expense. That Code section provides for an increased fee where the judge finds "extraordinary services". The PR has admitted that the probate judge not only did not find extraordinary services, he also failed to make any findings in support of a large fee (Personal Representative's Grounds for Appeal, Tr. >). ("The Probate Court erred in...not setting forth a ... basis... for... determining reasonable compensation." Appellant's Brief, p. 26) The PR now claims he is entitled to a fee of \$ 225 per hour because of his education, but he let Collins and Lacey handle the legal work and hired an accountant to do the accounting work. The PR testified that he was not charging as an attorney (Grice Tr. 142- 143/7, 145/5-8, Tr. >) and that there was very little attorney work to be done (Grice Tr. 176/6-7, Tr. >). (But his law firm was paid \$ 25,806.38 for this very little work.)

The probate judge questioned the PR on his charges:

Judge: So you were, as a Personal Representative, you were charging on an hourly basis?

PR: No, I wasn't.

Judge: Well what did you mean when you said you looked at the time you had into it to figure your charges?

PR: I looked at what I thought was a reasonable fee. And as we went down the road, I took draws...toward what I thought was a reasonable fee....

Judge: So you were charging on a time basis for your Personal Representative fees?

PR: No. ...I thought I knew what...a fair and reasonable fee would be for this administration as we started down the road. And I set... my draw against that target. (Garber Tr. 144/9-16, 19-24, Tr. >).

The probate judge found that most of the PR's charges were not related to the litigation surrounding his final accounting (Final Order, # 12, Tr. >). The Estate should not pay him for needless work and expertise he did not use for the Estate, and the Estate had no unusual issues requiring legal or accounting expertise (Final Order, #7, Tr. >).

The PR attempts to get around Code Section 62-3-719 by pointing out that the will provides for reasonable compensation. What is reasonable is a matter for the probate judge to decide, and the judge quite rightly started with the statute. The PR's attempts to add to the record documents and arguments not part of the record below is improper. What he told the judge in his testimony was that he did not charge a percentage and he did not charge by the hour. Instead, he decided in the beginning what he was going to pay himself and busily set about making that happen without regard to other factors (Grice Tr. 144, 14-16, 21-24; 175/1-4, 16-20; Tr. >). Before his representation really got underway and before anything was contested, he determined that his fee would consume the Estate's \$ 60,500 in stocks and bonds (Plaintiff's Ex. C-17). The value of these securities increased (Grice Tr. 86/21- 87/7, Tr. >) so the PR's fee was even more inflated than the number in the Final Order, but there has been no accounting for that.

The lengths to which the PR will go to justify his fee are almost comical. He tells us that

we should be grateful that the nearly \$ 26,000 paid to his law firm for work of questionable necessity (Final Order # 17, Tr. >) was not worse (Appellant's Brief, p. 33, para. 1). He goes on to inform us we should be grateful that he did not grab a broker's fee for selling the real estate (Appellant's Brief, p. 33, para. 1), even though he was not selling the property as a broker. He neglects to mention that his law firm billed the Estate for many hours of his time for which he now seeks compensation. See Addendum to Response of Appellants, p. 8 (d), Tr. >).

Throughout the case the PR has tried to improve his position by adding materials after the record has closed. See Order Disposing of Post-Trial Motions, Tr. >. Even with this Court, he has made numerous references to a document he calls "Exhibit E", although this document was never introduced into evidence and is not a proper part of the appellate record. Throughout the case he has also attempted to gain an advantage through the use of hearsay. He tried to substitute an affidavit for his testimony (the infamous Exhibit E) and unsuccessfully attempted to introduce affidavits of a Teri Stomski and of a Professor Medlin, whose only knowledge of the facts came from what the PR told them, in lieu of their testimony. This was contrary to Rules 801 and 802, SCRE, and to Respondents/ Cross-Appellants' due process right to confront the witnesses against them.

The judges below correctly denied the PR costs and attorney fees, because he would be entitled to reimbursement under S.C. Code Section 62-3-720 only if he had incurred these costs on behalf of the Estate. Instead they found that these costs and fees were incurred by the PR in an attempt to benefit himself (Final Order, # 19, Tr. >), which diminished the Estate.

Finally, the PR has benefitted from a mistake in the probate judge's calculation of the value of the Estate. In Paragraph 10 of the Final Order (Tr. >), Judge Hocker valued the Estate at \$ 513,491.00, but this used the PR's inflated value of the personal property (\$ 122,491.00) even though he questioned the necessity of the 204.6 hours of paralegal time (at \$ 90/hr.) used to generate this number (Final Order, # 17, Tr. >).

III. Affirming the rulings of the courts below requiring that the Personal Representative refund his excessive compensation would not result in unjust

enrichment.

Except for Bart Heard, the heirs have not received any distribution from the Estate. They have therefore not been unjustly enriched. The findings of the judges below about how the PR mismanaged the Estate assets for his own benefit destroy any equitable argument the PR might make. The probate judge correctly found, “The commissions sought by the PR are clearly excessive....” (Final Order # 13, Tr. >). Making the PR to disgorge his excess commissions cannot result in unjust enrichment. Far from being a sign of “contentiousness”, the Respondents/Cross-Appellants’ devotion to the interests of all the heirs prevented the PR from further looting the estate; and this came at the expense of considerable time, effort and money. See also Grice Tr. 82/6-8, Tr. > where the PR admits that Ms. Moses and Ms. Brown readily consented to the sale of the farm once a suitable buyer was found.

The PR makes the incredible assertion that Ms. Brown and Ms. Moses are precluded from getting relief because “no one, including Brown and Moses..., ever asserted any challenge to the PR’s actions in Probate Court.” (Appellate’s Brief, p. 39, para. 1). The Court’s attention is directed to the Summary of Position of Defendants Moses and Brown (Tr. >), to the Probate Court’s Final Order (Tr. >) and to Rule 3.3(1) of the S.C. Rules of Professional Conduct.

IV. The Probate Court had the power to consider and rule upon the Personal Representative’s request that his compensation be approved.

The PR had tried to get the heirs to agree to his handling of the Estate without letting them know what he did and how much he had paid himself (Grice Tr. 155/11-16, Tr. >). Because he was unable to persuade Ms. Moses and Ms. Brown to consent to his unknown activities, he was forced to make known to them their right to have a hearing at which the PR would justify his handling of the Estate (Tr. >). Ms. Brown and Ms. Moses accepted his offer (Tr. >). The PR did not provide or request pleadings, and given that he was the moving party under S.C. Code Section 62-3-1001 and that it was his burden to justify his handling of Estate assets, none were required from Ms. Moses and Ms. Brown. There was an intermission of more

than two weeks during the trial (Appellant's Brief, p. 3, para. 3), so the PR had plenty of notice of the issues and time to prepare. The PR himself made detailed advance notice of the issues almost impossible by dumping on the heirs three and a half years' worth of accountings not long before the hearing was to take place (Final Order # 9, Tr. >), but he did know that attorney fees were an issue (Grice Tr. 93/3-7, Tr. >). As to the PR's duty of timely full disclosure see *Moore v. Moore*, 360 S.C. 241, 599 S.E.2d 467 (Ct. App. 2004) and *Turpin v. Lowther*, 404 S.C. 581, 745 S.E.2d 397 (Ct. App. 2013). See also S.C. Code Section 62-3-712 concerning the PR's liability for the improper exercise of his power.

The PR did not make a contemporaneous objection to the hearing he offered to the heirs and then set up, so he can not now be heard to say that the court did not have the power to consider the issues he presented, including his compensation. At the very least this issue was argued by consent, so the PR has waived his right to claim that S.C. Code Section 62-3-721(a) is the exclusive method to review PR compensation and he is estopped to assert this position.

V. The courts below properly ruled that the Personal Representative was not entitled to be reimbursed for attorney fees and costs expended in pursuit of his own private interests.

The courts below did not find that a PR is entitled to fees and costs only if he prevails as the PR alleges (although that should be an equitable consideration). They considered the reasonableness and the necessity of what the PR wanted to charge the Estate and whether the Estate benefitted. The reason the PR had the costs and attorney fees he did was because he looted the estate and tried to hide that from the heirs until the scheduling of a hearing made that impossible. This was not service to the Estate for which he could seek reimbursement. See Final Order's Conclusions of Law, # 5, Tr. >).

S.C. Code Section 62-3-720 provides that a PR can seek reimbursement for necessary expenses and disbursements. The Estate should not be required to pay for a PR's defense of his own malfeasance and misfeasance which damaged the Estate. As the *Weidlich v. Cromley*, 267 F.2d 133, 134 (2nd Cir. 1959) case cited by Appellant states, reimbursement is appropriate "When

the [PR's] administration of the assets is *unjustly* assailed....” The Final Order below (Tr. >) shows that this is most definitely not the case here. A court of Equity cannot allow the PR to be the beneficiary of his own wrong. See *Taff v. Smith*, 114 S.C. 306, 103 S.E. 551 (1920).

The PR's ultimate problem is quite simply that he did not prove the existence and the necessity of the 468.6 hours he claimed to have worked (Final Order, para. 1, Tr. >). He sought a total of \$ 157,179 in fees and costs (Final Order, p. 2, Tr. >) for what was not a complicated estate (Final Order, # 2, Tr. >) and failed to provide any legitimate basis for the fees he claimed (Final Order, #8, Tr. >). There were no novel issues (Final Order, # 7, Tr. >), and the probate judge rightly found that the PR's commissions were “clearly excessive” (Final Order, # 13, Tr. >). Even his claim to have gotten a good price for the farm from the buyer Respondent Mary Moses dropped into his lap requires the Court to ignore that the purchase price was \$ 24,000 less than the appraisal (Plaintiff's Ex. C-14 and C-17, Tr. >).

VI. The Probate Court and the Circuit Court correctly determined that Counsel for Brown and Moses is entitled to attorney fees.

The heirs of the Marion M. Kay Estate are \$ 42,475.00 (plus post-judgment interest) better off because of the efforts of the counsel for Ms. Moses and Ms. Brown. His efforts have led to the creation and preservation against post-trial attack of a common fund. (Final Order, Conclusions of Law # 4, Tr. >).

The PR attempts to make a technical argument about whether a petition had been filed, but the PR himself brought the matter to court with an informal petition for settlement. Ms. Brown and Ms. Moses made known that they would be seeking costs and attorney fees, and the issue of attorney fees and costs for both sides was argued without objection. See Grice Tr. 93/3-7, Tr. > for the PR's admission that he knew that attorney fees were an issue. Counsel for the PR did not object to the introduction of the undersigned's time sheet, examined the undersigned under oath about his charges and has raised a question about only 0.6 of an hour. The PR has waived his objection and is estopped to assert it.

As to the definition of suit, cause and action, see 33 S.C. Digest2d 5, “Action”. As to the

inherent power of courts to do all things reasonably necessary to insure that just results are reached to the fullest extent possible, see *Simpson v. Simpson*, 404 S.C. 563, 579, 746 S.E.2d 56 (Ct. App. 2013).

The undersigned's work on the case began in January of 2008, and that work proved crucial for unraveling how the PR had abused his position and determining that a hearing was necessary. The probate judge correctly found that an attorney fee was warranted and that the undersigned had "necessarily devoted 99.3 hours to this case to date (all of which appears related to the merits of the matter)..." and he stated that he had considered all the *Glasscock* factors. (Final Order, # 21, Tr. >). The undersigned should likewise be compensated for post-trial work.

VII. The courts below correctly disposed of the Personal Representative's Rule 59 motion.

The PR correctly states that the reversal of the denial of his request for relief under Rule 59 requires that he establish an abuse of discretion. He has not done so.

The PR's discretion is not unbounded. He is a fiduciary and must direct his efforts to advancing the interests of the Estate, not his own private interests. *Moore v. Moore*, 360 S.C. 241, 599 S.E.2d 467 (Ct. App. 2004); S.C. Code Section 62-3-703.

The court below found wrongdoing when it delicately noted that the sale of the real estate was not necessary but that it generated proceeds for the PR (Final Order, # 4, Tr. >), when it found that the commissions sought by the PR were "clearly excessive" (Final Order, para. # 13, Tr. >), and when it found that the PR charged the Estate for work he allegedly did for the Testatrix before she died (Final Order, para. 5, Tr. >). The PR claimed payment for more hours than the evidence supported (Final Order, para. # 8, Tr. >), and the bases he provided for his charges were not legitimate (Final Order, para. # 8, Tr. >).